## Central Volunteer Handbook

## Central Volunteer Handbook | 2

## **Table of Contents**

From The Lead Pastor	3
The Mission, Vision & Strategy of The Chapel	4
Statement of Faith	7
Statement of Christian Commitment	9
Abuse Prevention Policy	11
Administrative Policy	15
Caring for Survivors	22
Policy on Known or Creditably Accused Sex Offenders	
Potential Indicators of Child Abuse	26
Volunteer Conduct with Children and Youth	28
Reporting Significant Concerns ("Whistleblower" Policy)	29
Appendix	30
Volunteer Handbook & Abuse Prevention Policy Acknowledgment	30
Child Abuse/Maltreatment Reporting Agreement	31
Paparting Concerns	37

#### From The Lead Pastor

The Chapel is committed to ensuring that every man, woman, and child hears and sees the Gospel of Jesus Christ on repeated occasions both here and around the world. This will be accomplished through the leading of the Holy Spirit as we plant churches and partner with other ministries. In addition, we will, through faith, rely upon God to provide the resources necessary to accomplish this Mission.

As we join God on His mission the "Missio Dei", we will work together to establish, encourage, empower and engage the entire ministry organization, congregation on the following four key components of this mission:

<u>Circle of Accountability</u> - a specific geographical area ordained by God to which the Chapel is responsible and each person, leader and ministry has ownership for in facilitating that every man, woman and child has repeated opportunities to hear and see the gospel of Jesus.

<u>Interdependent Leadership</u> as it relates to the organizational structure and culture in that all levels of the organization embody this philosophy and are actively working towards enhancing, equipping and empowering leaders accordingly.

<u>Partnering</u> with the greater body includes working with other ministries to achieve strategically important objectives as it relates to the overall mission as well as working with other ministries internally within the Chapel family to do the same.

Spiritual formation is a priority for each person, leader and ministry and is visibly demonstrable.

As part of this team, you will be given every opportunity to demonstrate to our congregation, guests, and visitors that we love God, we care about people, and more importantly, we have the answer that so many people are looking for. Introducing people to Jesus is what we are all about! Equipping people to follow Jesus through attachment to our ministry is a priority. Attached and equipped people can more effectively lead additional souls to Jesus Christ. Finally, we are to glorify, exalt, and praise God.

Our expectations are that you fulfill every ounce of your God-given potential and calling, because the living God deserves the very best! We are looking forward to your significant and on-going contribution to the success of this ministry as we labor together for the cause of Christ.

Pastor Jerry

Pastor Sury

Lead Pastor

## The Mission, Vision & Strategy of The Chapel

The Mission of The Chapel is to ensure that every man, woman and child have repeated opportunities to hear, see and respond to the gospel of Jesus Christ.

We will fulfill our mission – God's mission – as disciples: people who, together, daily follow Christ and compel others to do the same.

As disciples, we focus on our spiritual formation through a growing intimacy with God, living Christ-like in our relationships, knowing and using our spiritual gifts and knowing and sharing our grace story (amidst the greater story of grace).

## FOUR OUTCOMES

of Spiritual Formation

## **CHRISTLIKE**

relationships

How would Jesus live my life were He me? This impacts our relationships to people and to our stuff.

# INTIMACY

Teaching our soul that its satisfaction is found in God alone. Spend time with God each day through prayer and His Word.

## SHARING your **GRACE STORY**

Whenever people encounter Jesus, He leaves them with a story to tell. God's grace has invaded our lives; we exist to share it.

### spiritual

## **GIFTEDNESS**

Each Jesus-follower is gifted by God for the good of others and the advancement of the Gospel. Everyone is necessary.

Our collective goal as a team is to effectively lead people to discover the fullness of being a disciple. We seek to create greater clarity in articulating what this looks like for everyday people. We desire to have a simple, accessible, easy to digest, memorable, actionable, transferable message that encompasses what the life of a disciple looks like.

We want people to have clear line of sight from our mission statement to their every day lives!

#### Central Volunteer Handbook | 6

Our strategy is to create incredible clarity around what it looks like to discover the fullness of being a disciple and live it out in all aspects of our lives.

Love God: how we grow in our spiritual formation (Luke 10:27a)

Love the Church: how we grow together in community (John 13:35, 1 John 4:19)

Love the World: how we <u>live missionally</u> in the world (Luke 10:27b, 1 John 4:19)

Love God – Love the Church – Love the World. This represents what we <u>value</u> as disciples.

#### Statement of Faith

We believe the Bible is our sole authority in matters of faith and practice, and adopt the following Confession of Faith as our interpretation of Bible Doctrine.

We believe the Scriptures of the Old and New Testaments as verbally inspired of God and inerrant in the original writings, and that they are of supreme and final authority.

II Timothy 3:16 Matthew 4:4 John 5:39 Psalm 119:160

We believe in one God eternally existing in three persons: Father, Son, and Holy Spirit; three in one, co-equal, which is the Trinity.

Hebrews 9:14 Matthew 3:16-17 I Corinthians 8:6 II Corinthians 3:14

We believe that Jesus Christ was begotten of God, conceived of the Holy Spirit, and born of the Virgin Mary. Philippians 2:6-11 John 1:1,14 John 3:13,16 John 14:6

We believe in the Holy Spirit, third person of the Trinity, Who convicts the world of sin, of righteousness, and of judgment. He is the life of the believer, and He empowers the preaching and teaching of the Gospel.

John 16:7-14 Genesis 1:2 Acts 2:1-4 II Peter 1:21

We believe that man was created in the image of God, that he sinned, and thereby incurred not only physical death, but spiritual death, which is separation from God; and that all human beings are born with a sinful nature and those who reach moral responsibility become sinners in thought, word, and deed.

I Corinthians 15:22 | I Corinthians 2:14 | Romans 5:12,14,17 | Romans 6:23

We believe that the Lord Jesus Christ died for our sins according to the Scriptures as a representative and substitutionary sacrifice, and that all who believe in Him are justified on the ground of His shed blood.

I John 4:10 I John 2:2 Romans 8:3 I Peter 1:18,19 Matthew 20:28

We believe in the resurrection of the crucified body of our Lord, His ascension into Heaven and His present life there as High Priest and Advocate for us.

I Peter 2:5 I Corinthians 15:4 Hebrews 1:3 Acts 1:9

We believe in that blessed hope, the personal, pre-millennial, and imminent return of our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ. Matthew 24:27-31,36 | Thessalonians 3:13 | Matthew 25:31 | Jude 14 | Colossians 3:4 | Zechariah 14:4,5

We believe that all who receive by faith the Lord Jesus Christ are born again of the Holy Spirit, and thereby they become children of God and heirs of eternal life.

Ephesians 4:30 Philippians 1:6 Romans 8:31-39 | Peter 1:5 | John 5:6 | John 10:28

#### Central Volunteer Handbook | 8

We believe in the bodily resurrection of the just and the unjust, the everlasting conscious suffering of the lost, and the felicity of the saved, which demand a literal heaven and hell.

I Thessalonians 4:15,16 II Corinthians 4:14 I Corinthians 15:12-58 Acts 24:15

We believe in the existence of a personal devil, the old deceiver, a liar from the beginning, who is still working in the world today to destroy the souls of men and that he and all his angels and all who receive not Christ as their Savior will perish in the lake of fire.

Isaiah 14:12-14 John 8:44 Luke 4:6,7 I John 3:8

We believe in the Church, the body of Christ, whose mission it is to preach the Gospel to all the world; all of its endeavors being supported by God's financial plan of the "Tithe and offering."

Ephesians 5:23-32 Ephesians 4:11-13 Ephesians 1:22-23 Colossians 1:24 Colossians 1:18 I Timothy 3:15 Acts 20:28

We believe that the ordinances of the Church, given by our Lord, are Baptism by immersion and the Lord's Supper. Matthew 26:26-30 Romans 6:3,4 | Corinthians 11:18-32 | Galatians 3:2 Matthew 3:13-15 | Colossians 2:12 | Matthew 28:19-20 | Peter 3:21

We believe that all the foregoing are Bible doctrines; therefore, we stand firm upon this Declaration of Faith.

#### Statement of Christian Commitment

When an individual becomes a member of a community, he or she always lays aside certain personal rights for the good of the total community. To this end, it is understood that those who have accepted positions of service within The Chapel Ministries are to commit themselves to uphold the standards as cited in this statement.

Standards based on specific commands of Scripture: (Exodus 20:7, 14-15; Leviticus 19:11; Romans 1:21-27; I Corinthians 6:9; Ephesians 4:28-32, 5:3-4; Colossians 3:9; I Timothy 3:3; Titus 1:6) The Word of God is the final authority on all matters of faith and conduct. Therefore, items expressly forbidden in the Scripture are never acceptable. Included among these are acts as drunkenness, stealing, lying, the use of slanderous or profane language, cohabitation, extramarital sex, homosexual behavior and other forms of sexual immorality (including biblically incompatible views of gender).

Also condemned by Scripture are such attitudes as greed, jealousy, pride, lust, bitterness, hostility, an unforgiving spirit and prejudice based on race, sex, and socioeconomic status. Therefore, The Chapel strives to see these attitudes eliminated as evidenced in speech and action and replaced by Christ-like attitudes appropriate for maturing Christians.

Standards based on Scriptural principles, including culturally specific applications: While Scripture does not provide specific teaching regarding all social practices in a given cultural setting, it does speak to the Christian's responsibility in areas of conduct which may be harmful or spiritually offensive to self or others.

Based on this, as well as to protect from the snare of harmful addictive behavior, those covered by this statement are expected to abstain from the use of addictive substances including tobacco and illicit drugs. As it relates to use of alcohol, while we discourage consumption, it is not specifically prohibited. Drunkenness, however, is clearly deemed unacceptable (as outlined in our Statement of Christian Commitment). A volunteer of The Chapel carries a measure of influence regardless of their specific role, so it is understood that we are to refrain from anything that affects your or The Chapel's public testimony or causes someone to stumble (i.e. consumption of alcohol in public settings). (Romans 14; I Timothy 3:3; Titus 1:7).

Since a Christian is to abstain from all that is morally degrading, restraint and discretion in the choice of entertainment and literature are expected. They should demonstrate the ability to make sound judgment based on biblical principles and display tangible evidence of spiritual growth and maturity (Titus 2:11, 12).

**Personal standards of godliness:** Since we are members of both the local and universal Body of Jesus Christ, it is expected that everything we do will reflect our commitment to our Lord and to His body of believers. This commitment is to be demonstrated by personal spiritual growth, faithful involvement in The Chapel ministries, and expressions of Christian love toward those with physical or spiritual needs.

All are also expected to aspire to a faithful pattern of godliness and devotion to Christ and His work, typified by, but not limited to the following (I Timothy 4:6-16):

- 1. Regular devotional life: Scripture reading and study, prayer, . . . (I Timothy 4:7)
- 2. Faithful church membership and attendance (I Timothy 4:12, 13; Hebrews 10:24,25)
- 3. Faithful financial stewardship and generous living (II Corinthians 9:6-8; II Timothy 6:17-19)
- 4. Personal volunteer ministry work (Romans 12:11; I Peter 5:2, 3)
- 5. Active involvement in evangelism/discipleship (Matthew 28:19, 20)
- 6. A strong commitment to conscientiously represent the Lord Jesus Christ within the ministry, throughout our community, and to the ends of the earth.

**Standards based on our responsibility of influence:** In our relationship with others within the body of Christ, our conduct should demonstrate an attitude of personal responsibility and sensitivity by always being aware of the impact of our actions and attitudes on others ("You, my brothers, were called to be free. But do not use your freedom to indulge the sinful nature; rather, serve one another in love." Galatians 5:13).

It is recognized that conflicts and personal failures may occur, as Scripture declares "we all stumble in many ways." (James 3:2). It is expected that when an offense occurs, the instructions of Matthew 18:15-20 must be followed. This is to be done in the spirit of Galatians 6:1, thereby making "every effort to keep the unity of the Spirit through the bond of peace." (Ephesians 4:3). When personal failures occur within our lives, we are to quickly repent, seek forgiveness, and, with the help of godly counsel, prevent these from getting a hold on our lives.

We should understand that our acceptance of responsibility within the ministries of The Chapel reinforces the importance of our personal commitment to Jesus Christ as Savior and Lord and to the Bible as God's inerrant Word. It is in view of this and the seriousness of the impact our ministry responsibility brings that we are to commit ourselves to live in accordance with the above Statement of Christian Commitment.

### **Abuse Prevention Policy**

As a community, The Chapel is committed to protecting the vulnerable, caring for survivors, and holding abusers accountable. Our commitments come from God, who is a refuge for the abused and never ignores the cry of the abused (Psalm 9:9, 12). Our community seeks to embody God's care for justice and the vulnerable that comes with his Kingdom.

Abuse is a particularly grievous sin (and often a crime), when someone in a position of power and trust violates or exploits someone who is often powerless to stop it. Abuse is sadly a common reality in this world. As Christians, we cannot face abuse if we are in denial about the reality of abuse. Instead, Jesus calls us to be "wise as serpents." (Matthew 10:16) We all must take responsibility to become educated about abuse and take responsibility to uphold our policy.

Our goal is to prevent and respond appropriately to abuse by becoming a community that is educated on various forms of abuse and common dynamics, clarifying appropriate boundaries, and doing the hard work of holding each other accountable. All persons should experience an environment of safety and justice and one that is free from any form of abuse.

By its very nature, our community includes interaction with vulnerable children and adults. Sadly, predatory individuals often seek environments with vulnerable people. Abuse in all its forms is almost always perpetrated by someone known to the victim. Abusers utilize a variety of tactics to gain trust, deceive both victims and others within a community, and keep the abuse secret. This policy only states what we all must take ownership of in our community as we, together, walk with God who loves justices and hates oppression.

#### Definitions

**Abuse:** In general, abuse occurs when a person in a position of power and/or trust (e.g. pastor, elder, boss, mentor, supervisor, parent, adult, older child, etc.) uses that position to exploit or violate someone who is more vulnerable (e.g. a child, someone who is sick, elderly, or disabled). That exploitation or violation can take a variety of forms such as emotional, financial, physical, sexual, spiritual, etc.

**Sexual Abuse:** When a person in a place of power and/or trust, engages in sexual behavior with a child or an adult under their supervision, authority, mentoring, or spiritual care, including:

- Sexual Penetration: Any act or attempted act of vaginal or anal penetration, however slight, by a person's penis, finger, other body part, or an object, and/or any oral-genital contact.
- Sexual Contact: Any intentional touching of a person's breasts, buttocks, groin, genitals, or other intimate parts.

  Touching may be over or under clothing and may include the touching or making the person touch, or making the

person touch their own body. This also includes contact with non-sexual areas of the body for the sexual gratification of the perpetrator (such as with certain paraphilic disorders).

- Non-Contact Sexual Acts:
  - observing a person's nudity or sexual activity or allowing a person to observe sexual activity;
  - recording, photographing, transmitting, showing, viewing, streaming, or distributing intimate or sexual images, audio recordings, or sexual information of persons; or
  - exposing one's genitals or inducing a person to expose their own genitals
  - communicating romantic or sexual desire, interest, or sexually stimulating content toward a person within a power dynamic (boss-employee, doctor-patient, teacher-student, pastor-congregant, adult-child)

A child cannot consent to any sexual behavior with an adult or older child. An adult under the authority, care, or mentorship of a leader cannot consent to sexual activity. Even when both people are adults and the contact is not forcible, any crossing of sexual boundaries within a power structure is not an "affair" or a "relationship" but an egregious abuse of power. Adult sexual abusers often develop an emotional and spiritual connection and then exploit it. While not always recognized as a crime according to state laws, this is a serious violation and The Chapel will treat it as such. If any staff person wishes to pursue a consensual relationship with someone under their spiritual care or a power hierarchy within The Chapel, they must contact the Safety Team for the sake of transparency and to discuss any appropriate boundaries given the power dynamics or other factors.

Sexual Assault: sexual contact or behavior that occurs without the consent of the victim. Sexual harassment generally violates civil laws—all have a right to work or learn without being harassed—but in many cases is not a criminal act (see more on harassment below). Sexual assault usually refers to acts that are criminal. Some forms of sexual assault include:

- Penetration of the victim's body, also known as rape.
- Attempted rape.
- Forcing a victim to perform sexual acts, such as oral sex or penetration of the perpetrator's body.
- Fondling or unwanted sexual touching.

Consent is words or overt actions indicating a freely given agreement to the sexual act or contact. Silence or the absence of an explicit "no" does not equal consent. Physical submission by the victim - such as "freezing" or "fawning" - does not equal consent. Consent also implies the ability to say no in a mutual relationship: Children, adults with certain developmental disabilities, certain vulnerable adults (e.g. elderly or ill), or those within a power differential (e.g. with a religious leader, mentor, teacher, or supervisor) are unable to consent to sexual activity. Other circumstances such as intoxication or unconsciousness also render a person unable to give consent to sexual activity. Deception or manipulation of a person also render that person unable to consent.

The Chapel Ministries

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For more discussion on consent including state laws see <a href="https://www.rainn.org/articles/legal-role-consent">https://www.rainn.org/articles/legal-role-consent</a> and <a href="https://apps.rainn.org/policy/">https://apps.rainn.org/policy/</a>? <a href="mailto:ga=2.24798265.200928410.1590493313-413255437.1539433206">https://apps.rainn.org/policy/</a>? <a href="mailto:ga=2.24798265.200928410.1590493313-413255437.1539433206">ga=2.24798265.200928410.1590493313-413255437.1539433206</a>

**Sexual Harassment:** The legal definition of Sexual Harassment by the US Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (1980) is "Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature constitute sexual harassment when:

- submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment
- 2. submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual;
- 3. such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment."

Beyond the legal definition, harassment, sexual or otherwise, can also occur in a community, conference, or event when the people involved are not employees of the church. In accord with our values, sexual harassment is not restricted to what is defined as sexual harassment under the law. The Chapel considers any unwanted sexualized behavior or sexualized behavior within a power differential to be a serious form of harassment (including unwanted touch or communication, other unwanted sexual attention, or any behavior that objectifies or degrades.) Other common forms of harassment include bullying and acts of discrimination. Harassment can include discrimination against a specific group of people based on age, race, sex, ethnicity, national origin, religion, language, disability, health conditions, socioeconomic status, marital status, domestic status, or parental status.

Intimate Partner Violence (Domestic Violence): A pattern of behavior where a person in or who has been in an intimate relationship uses tactics of control, belittling, isolation, fear, stalking, and/or intimidation to dominate, harm, degrade, or otherwise undermine the worth and agency of the other person in the relationship. Intimate partner violence can be physical, verbal, emotional, sexual, social, or financial.<sup>2</sup>

**Emotional Abuse:** A pattern of controlling behaviors such as shaming, insulting, degrading, intimidating, threatening, humiliating, and/or domineering. Bullying is a common term for acts that typically constitute emotional abuse.

**Financial Abuse:** The illegal or improper use of a vulnerable person or his/her financial resources for another's profit or advantage. Some examples of financial abuse may include: the taking of money or property; forging a signature; getting a person to sign a deed, will or power of attorney through deception; coercion or undue influence; or, illegally or improperly adding names to bank accounts or safety deposit boxes. The elderly in particular are often targeted for financial abuse.

The Chapel Ministries

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For more information and examples an excellent resource is The Duluth Model at https://www.theduluthmodel.org/wheels/

**Physical Abuse:** Non-accidental physical injury (ranging from bruises to severe fractures or death) by way of bodily contact (such as slapping, punching, pushing, beating, kicking, shaking or striking with an object) or non-injurious contact with the goal or effect of intimidating, threatening, or controlling.

**Spiritual Abuse**: a form of emotional abuse using religion. Many acts of abuse in a religious environment will have a spiritual dimension. Examples include:

- Use of religious ideology, precepts, tradition, or sacred texts to harm.
- Compelling a person to engage in religious acts against his or her will.
- Abuse that occurs in a religious context or by a religious leader.
- Invoking of divine authority to manipulate a person into meeting the needs of the abuser.
- Using spirituality or spiritual authority to dismiss a person's perspective, agency, or value.
- Attempts to use the divine, sacred texts, sacred tradition, theology, or spirituality to put their leadership or decisions beyond questioning or accountability.
- Attempts to spiritualize or justify harm using the divine, sacred texts, sacred tradition, theology, or spirituality.

**Stalking:** A pattern of unwanted, fixated and obsessive behavior which is intrusive and causes fear of violence, alarm, or distress. Stalking is a terrifying reality and is now recognized as a crime in all fifty states.

Examples of stalking include (from The Justice Department's Stalking Victimization Survey):

- Making unwanted phone calls/texts or sending unwanted messages or emails.
- Following or spying on the victim.
- Showing up or waiting at places without a legitimate reason.
- Leaving unwanted items, presents, or flowers.
- Posting information or spreading false or confidential information about a person or victim on the internet, in a public place, or by word of mouth.

#### **Administrative Policy**

#### Safety Team

The Safety Team is responsible for equipping the community of The Chapel for effective prevention and response. Currently, our Safety Team is comprised of a group of individuals (based on role & responsibilities) and includes women and men.

Duties of the Safety Team:

- Implement and oversee compliance with The Chapel's Abuse Prevention & Safety Policies; maintain rigorous familiarity with these policies
- Ensure all staff & volunteers are aware of the application of policy on a consistent basis
- Receive, Document, and Respond to any policy violations or concerning behavior
- Lead in responding to any allegations of abuse (see below)
- Ensure effective systems are in place to conduct or coordinate screening of staff and volunteers
- Complete regular continuing education and help develop an ongoing education plan for the church

#### Screening of Staff and Volunteers

The Chapel shall utilize the following screening tools for all staff and volunteers:

- The completion of a written application including questions related to abuse and protecting the vulnerable.
- At least three references to be contacted (two for volunteers). These references should include:
  - o Previous employers (if applicable) and any work with survivors or vulnerable persons
  - o At least one reference not supplied directly by the applicant, where possible
- A background check that includes the following information:
  - o County criminal record check (last 7 years)
  - o Federal criminal record check
  - Social Security Number Trace
  - o Sex offender registry check
  - Global Watchlist search
- An internet and social media search
- An interview that explores a candidate's written application and includes questions related to abuse, protecting the vulnerable, and The Chapel's policies

If the screening process yields information that an individual abused a child or others in any way, or has been convicted of a violent and/or sexual crime, that individual may not work with children or vulnerable adults in any capacity. If any potentially concerning information comes to light OR if the screening process shows that a candidate has ever been accused or convicted of any type of crime, The Chapel will consult with an expert to help assess the situation.

#### **Training**

The staff & volunteers shall receive access to annual continuing education on abuse and harassment issues from outside experts and internal briefings on our policy.

#### **Healthy Boundaries**

At all times our community upholds the following standards of respect and safety.

Show respect in physical touch, space, and visibility:

- Appropriate touch, whether an adult or child, is always welcomed by the person and accountable to others
   (If you are not sure, just ask e.g. Can I give you a hug?)
- Children who need assistance in the restroom outside of the children's ministry must be helped by their own parent or guardian. Within the children's ministry, all diapering or assistance must be observable by two screened adults.
- Be considerate of others and give them appropriate space: Notice the body language of others and be aware of your impact on others
- Stay in visible and accountable spaces: No one should be alone with a child who is not their own child (including giving rides)

Show respect in your words:

- Determine to use words that convey the respect always due to others.
- Avoid any language that belittles or objectifies (e.g. commenting on a person's body or sexual attractiveness)
- Avoid sexualized comments including inappropriate jokes or stories (or sharing media)

Show respect in agency and personal boundaries:

- Healthy people do not seek to control others, but rather encourage and empower others to take healthy agency in their own life (e.g. making decisions for someone or taking control of an aspect of their life such as directing their finances or career or social life).
- Avoid volunteering inappropriately intimate information or asking someone to reveal intimate details or
  personal information when the person is not ready or comfortable doing so.

- Give agency to others (e.g. "Where would you be comfortable meeting up?")
- Always respect the "no" of others in setting personal boundaries.

It is always the responsibility of the person in the position of greater power to maintain appropriate boundaries with others. The following behaviors are unacceptable by any pastors, overseers, deacons, or staff at The Chapel:

- Any abuse of power as defined by this policy
- Sexual harassment of any kind, including unwanted sexual attention, comments, or unwanted physical touch
- Behavior or words that discriminate against anyone based on age, race, sex, ethnicity, national origin, religion, language, disability, health conditions, socioeconomic status, marital status, domestic status, or parental status.
- Any words that belittle or threaten

Abusers often use charm or other tactics to manipulate others. Targets of abuse often report feeling flattered and then later confused, upset, guilty, ashamed, and like it is all their fault. Victims should know that although it is normal to feel this way, abuse is never their fault. Those in positions of power and trust are responsible and able to respect appropriate boundaries.

Abusers are often skilled at explaining away concerning behavior. Anyone who experiences or has information regarding concerning behavior or a policy violation should document it and speak up as soon as possible to the Safety Team. All of us should be mindful of what is happening around us and speak up to the Safety Team if anyone is demonstrating concerning behavior, crossing boundaries, or violating this policy in any way.

#### Responding to Boundary Violations

The Chapel takes seriously all policy violations and all concerns related to respect and safety. Any person who witnesses or learns of a violation of this policy or has any concerns related to vulnerable persons is encouraged to contact the Safety Team at safety@thechapel.com.. The Safety Team will document all concerns or policy violations and collaborate on any appropriate response and accountability.

#### Responding to Abuse and Harassment

The Chapel is committed to providing a timely and effective response to any allegations or findings of abuse or harassment within our church. We will work to create an environment where anyone feels comfortable raising questions and concerns, coming forward with reports of any misconduct, and being proactive about preventing and responding to abuse. In responding to abuse, The Chapel will always prioritize the safety and needs of the victim(s) and other vulnerable

persons. It is hard for victims to come forward in most circumstances. The Chapel will do its best never to blame victims for struggling to come forward, delaying disclosure, or other common disclosure behavior.

#### Immediate Response Protocols

- 1. When there is a reasonable belief that any person is in immediate danger (e.g. an act of violence is actively happening or has just occurred), call 911.
- 2. If there is a disclosure of abuse, any evidence or knowledge of abuse, or any reasonable belief of abuse <u>against</u> <u>a minor</u> (age 17 or younger) or <u>vulnerable adult (e.g.</u> elder abuse, or abuse against an adult with developmental disabilities), all adults within The Chapel are encouraged to immediately report to the <u>NY State Child Protection Services Hotline by calling 1-800-342-3720 (age 17 or younger) or Adult Protective Services Hotline by calling <u>1-844-697-3505</u> (age 18 or older). Child abuse may also be reported to a local police department, county sheriff, county juvenile department, or NY State Police. DO NOT try to investigate the matter. Any delay in reporting could result in a loss of critical evidence, potentially be a violation of the law, and worst of all, enable the continued abuse of vulnerable children or adults. After reporting to the above authorities, contact the Safety Team by either emailing safety@thechapel.com or reporting to any staff member who will then contact the Safety Team. If the victim is now an adult, but the abuse was against them as a minor, we will support them and respect their agency in reporting. The only exceptions are if the abuse occurred within our church or the name of the perpetrator is known in which case the Safety Team will determine the necessary steps to ensure the safety of all at The Chapel, while remaining as sensitive as possible to the victim(s)...</u>
- 3. If there is a disclosure, any evidence or knowledge, or any reasonable belief of abuse or harassment <u>against an adult</u>, all persons within The Chapel are encouraged to report as soon as possible to the Safety Team by reporting to any staff member or emailing safety@thechapel.com. The Safety Team shall immediately document the information and then inform the entire team (except a member or partner of a member involved in any allegation). If the misconduct allegations involve the Safety Team, the report may go to any member of the Board of Overseers.
- 4. The Safety Team shall respect the agency of the adult victim(s) in reporting any and all suspected crimes to the appropriate authorities. The decision to report adult abuse is ultimately up to the adult victim(s). However, the Safety Team should work to encourage and support the victim(s) in every possible way and there may be situations where the Safety Team feels conscience bound to report information pertaining to a potential crime against an adult. When reporting seems in the best interest of the safety of the community, the Safety Team shall also consult with national or local experts and the victim to make a safety plan when there is any potential reason to believe the victim or others at The Chapel may still be in danger (e.g. in cases involving domestic violence, stalking, assault, or threats). The Safety Team will also seek to communicate as sensitively as possible the reason for reporting to the victim.

5. If the alleged perpetrator is a member of The Chapel staff team, the NYS Harassment Prevention policy will go into effect and will be reported and addressed through channels required by NY State. If the alleged perpetrator is an active volunteer, upon notification from the Safety Team, The Chapel shall immediately place the alleged offender on leave from their responsibilities until the completion of any investigations and/or The Chapel has sufficient information to make a determination concerning any decisions and/or other accountability. The Safety Team shall coordinate any immediate steps required for the protection of the vulnerable and the community and will inform the Board of Overseers.

#### Further Response Protocols

Whenever possible, the Safety Team should refer the victim(s) to local expert help (where available) and/or national organizations such as The National Domestic Violence Hotline (1-800-799-SAFE), The Rape, Abuse, and Incest National Network Hotline (RAINN - 1-800-656-4673), or SAMHSA's National Helpline (1-800-662-HELP).

Any victim has a right for their privacy to be respected as much as possible. At times, it may be necessary for The Chapel to share certain information in order to safeguard other vulnerable persons and allow for any other potential victims to come forward.

The Safety Team shall coordinate further appropriate response including but not limited to:

- Ensuring all potential crimes against children have been reported to appropriate authorities according to the policy above
- Taking any further action for the protection of vulnerable persons
- Facilitating cooperation with any investigations including helping investigators assess the possibility of other victims and communicating in appropriate ways within the church or with others
- Ongoing, appropriate care for the victim(s) including helping them connect with professional trauma informed care if desired
- When appropriate, with careful attention to protecting the privacy of any victims, offering public support and/or opposing harmful narratives toward victims
- Maintaining contact with the alleged offender during any investigations or administrative leave to ensure proper boundaries and accountability, especially with regard to controlling the narrative, retaliation, and access to other vulnerable people
- Caring for others in the church and coordinating with outside resources as needed
- Documenting relevant actions and information related to the case
- Reaching out to qualified experts with questions or when an Independent Consultation or Investigation is appropriate

#### Independent Consultation and Investigation

There are several scenarios when The Chapel will strongly consider pursuing independent consultation or investigation in response to allegations of abuse or harassment, such as:

- Authorities decline to investigate a report of abuse even though there is evidence of wrongdoing.
- An adult victim is not ready to report allegations of a criminal nature to the authorities.
- The alleged offender is not charged with criminal wrongdoing by the authorities after an investigation, but sufficient concerns remain whether the alleged offender engaged in wrongful conduct that may disqualify him/her from continued participation in the organization.
- There is a serious pattern of misconduct denied by the alleged perpetrator.
- The alleged offender is a member of executive leadership or the Safety Team.
- The alleged victim(s) requests an investigation or there is a strong belief that there may be other victims.
- The organization wants to investigate and assess how it responded to the allegations of abuse in order to better understand how it could have responded more effectively and to improve for the future.

The Safety Team will make a recommendation to the Board of Overseers regarding the wisdom of independent consultation or investigation. When the Board of Overseers decline to engage an independent consultation or investigation, they, along with the Safety Team, shall document all related information along with an account of their decision.

When the Board of Overseers decide to engage an independent investigation, it must be conducted by an organization or persons completely independent of The Chapel and experienced in investigating cases of the specific form(s) of abuse or misconduct in view. The organization or persons should utilize a multidisciplinary team of trained investigators (examples can include current or past law enforcement officers, prosecutors, and/or mental health experts) who are trained in best practice investigative standards, have significant experience investigating a wide range of misconduct and/or abuse cases, and utilize trauma-informed practices in their investigations.

Upon completion of an investigation, the independent investigating body will deliver to the Board of Overseers a report that will consist of its investigative findings, analysis, and recommendations. Any personnel decisions will be made in view of the recommendations of the report, by the Board of Overseers, according to the values and employment practices of our organization and in communication with the Safety Team.

Those who use any position of power to abuse as defined by this policy shall never again serve in any formal role within The Chapel.

#### Retaliation

The Chapel prohibits any form of retaliation against any individual or group who are involved in any activity in this policy, such as reporting concerns or potential evidence, or cooperating in a criminal or independent investigation. Retaliation can take many forms, including, but not limited to, shunning, violence, threats, or intimidation that would discourage some persons from engaging in activity required or encouraged by this policy. Actions in response to a good faith report or response under this policy are considered retaliatory if they could reasonably have an adverse effect on the wellbeing of an individual or if they impact their ability to fully participate in church activities, including compliance with this policy. Reports, concerns, or questions about retaliation should be immediately reported to the Safety Team. All individuals and groups of individuals engaging in retaliation and will be held accountable under this policy.

#### **Caring for Survivors**

Survivors should have agency over sharing their story. When survivors choose to do so, they need our utmost support.

This support will include:

- Listening and staying calm
- Affirming without judgment
- Validating strong emotions (such as anger, betrayal, and confusion)
- Respecting their privacy
- Encouraging and empowering their agency
- Encouraging them to seek professional medical or mental health care as appropriate

Our support will recognize our limitations and will not offer therapeutic, legal, or other professional advice, but will focus on personal support and empowerment.

We will be careful to avoid causing further harm and will make every effort to prevent:

- Placing any portion of blame for the abuse on the victim
- Probing for intimate details of the abuse
- Expressing disbelief
- Attempting to silence the victim
- Encouraging noncompliance with the law
- Expressing support for the perpetrator
- Urging a meeting with or reconciliation with the perpetrator

Receiving an adult's abuse disclosure is an honor, not a burden; it is a sign of trust. Survivors often choose to disclose their abuse years, even decades, after it occurred. The Chapel encourages anyone receiving an adult's abuse disclosure to be guided by the following responses:

DO Say	DON'T Say	
Thank you for telling me.	Why are you telling me this?	
I believe you.	Why didn't you (run/scream/stop him etc.)	
I'm so sorry this happened to you. How can I help?	What do you mean when you say he abused you? What exactly did he do?	
Take as much time as you need.	You need to forgive and move on.	
I am here.	It'll take some time, but you'll get over it.	
The following should only be said if the victim indicates these concerns are on his/her mind.	It was so long ago, why are you still letting your abuser win by hanging on to it? Let it go.	
It is okay to be angry.	Try to be strong.	
It's understandable you're feeling that way.	Out of tragedies good things happen.	
Your reaction is not an uncommon response.	You're lucky that didn't happen.	
You're not going crazy. These are normal responses following abuse.	I know how you feel.	
It wasn't your fault.	Perhaps you misunderstood	

#### **Policy on Known or Credibly Accused Sex Offenders**

The Chapel is committed to a high standard of accountability for those who are admitted or convicted offenders (otherwise referred to as a "known" offender) and those who have been credibly accused of abuse, in all forms as defined in this policy, through a credible allegation (whether being investigated by law enforcement or otherwise). In all cases, these identified offenders would need to be repentant in order to remain in fellowship at our church. Known or credibly accused offenders who demonstrate evidence that they are not repentant are extremely dangerous and are not welcome in our church. Jesus welcomed sinners, but he did not command us to welcome "wolves among the sheep". Known or credibly accused offenders who wish to have any connection to our church must be willing to undergo a process designed to assess their individual situation, ongoing repentance, and what safeguards are appropriate. Offenders must agree to accept whatever accountability and safeguards our leadership, in consultation with experts, deem appropriate. Offenders must be willing to agree to this before the process of assessment begins. Any victim should be free to worship without their perpetrator present. The Chapel will look to reasonably accommodate this in ministry environments.

If a convicted offender asks to join our community, we will contact experts to assist with the assessment of the situation. Similarly, if an individual was, in the past, credibly accused of abuse. The Safety Team will use the following process:

Interview with the Known/Accused Offender

Interview with other Relevant Parties (e.g. family, treatment provider, counselor, parole officer, etc.)

Acquire Records relating to the Offender

Assess Repentance in Consultation with Experts

[If applicable]: Setting Level of Participation, Accountability, and Safeguarding Requirements (including listening to any known survivors about the impact in their life, and accountability on and off church property).

Leaders will consult with experts as needed throughout this process to ask appropriate questions and assess them.

No one who is convicted of or who has admitted to abusing a child may work with children or vulnerable persons in the ministry of our church, have any access to children in our church (on or off church property), or hold any position of power or trust, even if it is not directly connected to ministry to children. Any known or credibly accused offender who evidences deception, minimization, excuses, victim blaming, or other indicators they are not repentant shall not be allowed any connection to our church. Unrepentant offenders are not welcome.

Any adult who is a convicted or admitted offender who attends group activities shall agree to have their name known to the congregation and shall abide by all accountability and safeguards. Any adult offender who is known or believed to be

#### Central Volunteer Handbook | 25

attracted to children or fantasizes about children will not enter or be in close proximity to any children or student ministry environment (i.e. Chapel Kids, Chapel Students).

The safeguards shall address accountability on and off church property and will involve communication with appropriate persons such as family, friends, employers, counselors, and parole/probation officers. The safeguards shall be reviewed as needed, and at a minimum every year by the Safety Team, and in consultation with child protection experts.

When a known offender is judged to be repentant and has some connection to the church, those who have responsibility to minister to him or her will have specific training.

#### **Potential Indicators of Child Abuse**

Consider the possibility of sexual abuse if a child has:

- Torn, stained, or bloody underclothing
- Difficulty, pain or blood in the genital area when walking, sitting, or using the bathroom
- Discharge from the penis or vagina
- Injuries (e.g., bruises, tearing, bleeding), itching, or swelling in the genital, vaginal, or anal area
- Urinary tract infections, yeast infections, sexually transmitted diseases
- Pregnancy

It is atypical for children to engage in the following sexual behaviors:

- Placing mouth on sex part
- Asking others to engage in sexual acts
- Trying to have intercourse or imitating intercourse
- Undressing others, especially if done forcefully
- Imitating sexual positions with dolls
- Inserting an object into vagina or anus, especially if child continues to do so despite pain
- Manually stimulating or having oral or genital contact with pets
- Making sexual sounds
- Inserting tongue in mouth when kissing

Consider the possibility of physical abuse if you notice:

- Frequent injuries of any kind (e.g., bruises, cuts, fractures, burns)
- Especially if the child is unable to provide an adequate explanation of the cause of injury
- These injuries may appear in distinctive patterns such as grab marks, human bite marks, cigarette burns, or impressions of other instruments
- Pay particular attention to injuries that present on both sides of the head or body, as accidental injuries typically
  only affect one side of the body

Consider the possibility of neglect if a child:

- Is obviously malnourished, listless, or fatigued
- Begs, steals, or hoards food or complains frequently of hunger
- Is consistently dirty or has severe body odor
- Lacks sufficient clothing for the weather
- Untreated illness, injuries, health (e.g., unfilled cavities) or serious educational needs
- Broken or missing eyeglasses, hearing aid, or other necessary aids or equipment
- Has an untreated need for glasses, dental care, or other medical attention

- Stays at school outside of school hours
- Frequently absent or significant academic struggles
- Is inappropriately left unsupervised
- Abuses alcohol or other drugs

## Volunteer Conduct with Children and Youth

In an effort to provide a safe and healthy environment for both mind and body, the following guidelines are meant to guide The Chapel volunteers during their interactions with children and youth. These guidelines do not and cannot outline every situation that may be encountered while on the job, requiring volunteers to act with a certain degree of personal discretion. Because a certain action is not prohibited in this section does not mean it is acceptable behavior. The Chapel reserves the right to take disciplinary action against volunteers (removal from service) whose actions are found to be inappropriate regardless of whether they appear in this section.

- Volunteers will treat all children and youth with respect and consideration. Treatment must be fair and equal, and must not be based on sex, race, religion, sexual orientation or economic or social status. All effort must be made to avoid favoritism, or the appearance of favoritism.
- While representing The Chapel, volunteers must not possess, distribute, use or allow others to use any alcohol
  or drugs. Prescription medication used for medical purposes under the care of a physician or for distribution
  purposes on a Mission Trip under direct supervision is not in violation of this policy.
- Volunteers must not use harsh or inappropriate language, degrading punishment or any type of restraining device in the name of behavior management.
- Volunteers must not participate in or allow others to engage in any form of hazing.
- Volunteers must not have sexual contact with children or youth.
- Volunteers must not dress, undress, shower or bathe with or in the presence of children or youth.
- Volunteers must not use physical punishment in any form. The only time physical force is allowed to be used against a child or youth is when their actions are placing others at an immediate risk for serious harm.
- Volunteers are prohibited from sharing sleeping locations with children or youth. This includes beds, tents, hotel
  rooms and other similar areas. Volunteers can sleep in open areas with children or youth as long as the area is
  large enough for the volunteers to have their own defined sleeping areas and other volunteers are also present.
   See Children/Student Policy for more detail.
- Volunteers must not discuss their own sexual history, preferences or fantasies nor their use of illicit or pornographic materials while in the company of children or youth.
- Volunteers are not allowed to possess any sexually oriented materials (books, magazines, videos, clothing) when conducting ministry in the name of The Chapel.
- When one-on-one discussion or counseling is warranted, volunteer interaction with a child or youth will take place in an area that allows for private conversation while remaining in the view of others.

## Reporting Significant Concerns ("Whistleblower" Policy)

#### Purpose

The Chapel is committed to high standards of ethical, moral, and legal conduct with the intent of being above reproach in all dealings organizationally and individually. In line with our commitment to open communication, this policy aims to provide an avenue for volunteers to raise concerns and reassurance that they will be protected from reprisals or victimization as a form of retaliation. This policy is intended to meet the guidelines of New York State Non-Profit Law.

#### <u>Safeguards</u>

Harassment or Victimization - Harassment or Victimization for reporting concerns under this policy will not be tolerated. It is the intent of The Chapel to adhere to all laws and regulations that apply to the organization. The support of all volunteers is necessary to achieve compliance with various laws and regulations. The Chapel will not retaliate against a volunteer who, in good faith, has reported an activity or conduct that is in violation of a law, rule, or regulation, or poses a substantial and specific danger to the public health or safety.

Confidentiality - Every effort will be made to treat the complainant's identity with appropriate regard for confidentiality when reporting directly to another taking into consideration our Biblical conflict resolution approach.

#### Reporting a Concern

The whistleblower procedure is intended to be used for serious and sensitive issues. Such concerns, including those relating to financial reporting, unethical or illegal or dishonest activities are violations to federal, state or local laws; billing for services not performed or for goods not delivered, and other fraudulent financial reporting, may be reported as follows (in order of preference):

- 1. To the Executive Pastor
  - John Camardo: 716-631-2636 (x263), jcamardo@thechapel.com; and copy the Human Resources Director.
- 2. To any member of our safety team by emailing <a href="mailto:safety@thechapel.com">safety@thechapel.com</a>
- 3. To an Independent Director on the Board of Overseers
  - David White (Board Member): (716) 759-1500, <u>ddw@davidwhitewnylaw.com</u>

#### How the Report of Concern will be Handled

All reported concerns will be fully investigated by the Executive Pastor and the Board of Overseers.

All reported concerns will be fully investigated and resolved in a reasonable timeframe. When necessary, legal counsel will be consulted and governmental agencies notified.

### **Appendix**

#### Volunteer Handbook & Abuse Prevention Policy Acknowledgment

I acknowledge receipt of The Chapel's Volunteer Handbook and Abuse Prevention Policy. I acknowledge that the Volunteer Handbook supersedes any and all prior handbooks or policies of The Chapel. I understand that the information contained in the Volunteer Handbook constitutes management guidelines only, which may be added to, deleted, or changed from time to time at the discretion of The Chapel.

I recognize that neither the Volunteer Handbook nor any other communication, either written or oral, made at the time of the commencement of volunteer work, or subsequently, is intended to in any way create a contract between The Chapel and myself. I understand that my volunteerism is at-will and entered into voluntarily and may be terminated by The Chapel or me at any time, with or without cause or notice.

I acknowledge that I have read or will read the Volunteer Handbook, and I accept full responsibility for familiarizing myself with the policies contained in the Volunteer Handbook.

I understand that volunteer services at The Chapel may involve work that may be hazardous to me, including, but not limited to, lifting and carrying heavy items. I understand that it is my responsibility not to engage in volunteer tasks that are beyond my physical limitations or abilities.

If I have any questions regarding the content or interpretation of the Volunteer Handbook, I agree to bring it to the attention of the Volunteer Director.

This Handbook is intended to provide you with information about The Chapel policies and practices currently in force. No Handbook can anticipate every circumstance or question about policy. As The Chapel continues to grow, we may need to change policies described in this Handbook. We reserve the right to revise, supplement, or rescind any policies or portion of the Handbook from time to time as we deem appropriate, in our sole discretion. We will keep you informed of any such changes as they occur.

I certify that the electronic signature below acts as my agreement on this document.

#### https://thechapel.churchcenter.com/people/forms/458386

*If the volunteer is under 18 years of age,	the signature of a parent or guardian is required.
	(printed name)
	(signature)
	The Chapel Ministries

## Child Abuse/Maltreatment Reporting Agreement

If I, were to have reason to believe or suspect that child abuse/maltreatment is occurring with a child associated with The Chapel's ministries, I understand that I am empowered to report to the appropriate authorities directly and obligated to immediately inform the Safety Team of The Chapel. I understand that by law it is permissible for me to make a report to the New York State Central Registry.
If the alleged abuser is serving in a volunteer role in any of The Chapel's ministries, he or she will be temporarily removed from all contact with children during the pendency of the investigation. If in the course of any follow-up investigation, church leadership discovered that I had knowledge of behavior that should have been reported but was not, I will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.
By typing my name below, I hereby acknowledge receipt of The Chapel's Child Abuse/Maltreatment Reporting Agreement
I certify that the electronic signature below acts as my agreement on this document.
https://thechapel.churchcenter.com/people/forms/261114
*If the volunteer is under 18 years of age, the signature of a parent or guardian is required.
(printed name)
(signature)
The Chapel Ministries

## Reporting Concerns

Please email The Chapel safety team with any child or adult safety concerns to <a href="mailto:safety@thechapel.com">safety@thechapel.com</a>

The Chapel Ministries